### **AGREEMENT**

### between the

### LITTLE COMPTON TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

### and

### LITTLE COMPTON SCHOOL COMMITTEE

September 1, 2008- August 31, 2010

# LITTLE COMPTON TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION NEGOTIATING TEAM

Betsy Bottari, President Carol Belair Aimee MacLean Michael DeLeo Karen Goncalo Connie Ward

Jane Argentieri
Assistant Executive Director
NEARI/NEA UniServ
Chief Negotiator

### LITTLE COMPTON SCHOOL COMMITTEE

Joseph Quinn-Chairman Cheryl Cady Paul Desilets Michael Harrington Donald Gomez

Dr. Harold Devine, Superintendent James McAleer, Chief Negotiator

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

<b>ARTICLE</b>		<b>PAGE</b>
	Preamble	1
Article I	Recognition	1 1 2 2 4
Article II	Principles	2
Article III	Grievance Procedure	2
Article IV	Negotiation Procedures	4
Article V	Teaching Hours and Teaching	
	Load	4
Article VI	Textbooks and Supplies	6
Article VII	Protection	6
Article VIII	Teacher Facilities	7
Article IX	Use of School Facilities	7
Article X	Teacher Schedules	8
Article XI	Voluntary Assignments	6 6 7 7 8 8
Article XII	Leaves of Absence	8
Article XIII	Accumulative Sick Leaves	
	Reimbursement	12
Article XIV	Personal Injury Benefits	12
Article XV	Non-Teaching Duties	13
Article XVI	Insurance	13
Article XVII	Salaries	15
Article XVIII	Dues Deduction	15
Article XIX	Teacher Files	16
Article XX	Seniority	16
Article XXI	General	17
Article XXII	Tuition	18
Article XXIII	Professional Development	18
Article XXIV	Duration	19
	Appendix A	20

### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is negotiated under Chapter 9.3 of Title 28 of the General Laws in order:

to fix for its term the salaries and other conditions of employment provided herein;

to encourage effective and harmonious working conditions among the School Committee and the Little Compton Teachers' Association and the professional staff in order that the cause of public education may best be served in Little Compton.

### ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

- A. The School Committee of the Town of Little Compton, hereinafter referred to as the Committee, recognizes the Little Compton Teachers' Association, hereinafter referred to as the Association, as sole representative of all certified personnel (excluding administrative staff and per diem substitutes) employed or to be employed in the Little Compton School Department, hereinafter referred to as School Department, by the Committee.
- B. The Association recognizes that the Committee, as the agent of the State of Rhode Island and as the elected representatives of the Town of Little Compton, is the employer of the certified personnel of the School Department.
- C. The purpose of this mutual recognition is the agreement that the parties will act in good faith, one toward the other.
- D. The Committee hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative for all those employees in positions requiring a teaching or special services certificate (excluding administrative staff and per diem substitutes) employed by the Committee, for the purpose of negotiating, with respect to salaries and all other conditions of employment. Any reference to part-time teachers in this Agreement shall mean teachers who work less than three (3) days per week or less than twenty-one (21) periods per week.

### ARTICLE II PRINCIPLES

- A. Attainment of the objectives of the educational program of the school system requires mutual understanding and cooperation between the Committee and the Association. In light of the complexities involved in the operation of a school system, free and open exchange of views is desirable and necessary, with both parties participating in deliberations leading to the determination of matters of mutual concern.
- B. It is also recognized and agreed that each teacher shall assume, in a professional and ethical manner, the responsibilities of the Agreement and all other school department policies and regulations not inconsistent with this Agreement.
- C. The members of the Association feel that each member of the professional group should give as early notice as possible of his/her intention of leaving the employ of the Committee, and the Association pledges its members to the fulfillment of this ethical procedure. Unless precluded by special circumstances, a minimum of one (1) month's notice shall be given.
- D. The Committee and the Association do hereby agree that the welfare and education of the children of the Town of Little Compton is the first consideration in the operation of the schools and will be promoted by both parties.

### ARTICLE III GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### A. **DEFINITION**

A "Grievance" is a claim based on an event or condition which affects the welfare and/or conditions of employment of a teacher or of a group of teachers and/or the interpretation, meaning or application of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

#### B. PURPOSE

- 1. The purpose of this procedure is to procure fast, equitable solutions to the problems which may from time-to-time arise affecting the welfare or working conditions of teachers. Both parties agree that those proceedings will be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate.
- Nothing herein contained will be construed as limiting the right of any teacher having a grievance to discuss the matter informally with a member of the Administration without intervention by the Association.

#### C. PROCEDURE

1. A grievance must be filed in writing by the teacher and/or the Association with the appropriate administrator within thirty (30) school days of the time the teacher and/or the Association first knew or should have known of the act or omission giving rise to the grievance.

- 2. The appropriate administrator shall meet with the aggrieved person and/or the Association within five (5) school days of his/her receipt of the grievance. The appropriate administrator shall issue a decision within five (5) school days of the meeting.
- 3. If the aggrieved person and/or the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance or if no written decision has been rendered within the time limits of Subsection (2) above, the aggrieved person and/or the Association within five (5) school days thereafter may file the grievance in writing with the School Committee. The Committee shall meet with the aggrieved person and/or the Association within ten (10) school days of the receipt of the grievance.

The School Committee shall issue a decision within ten (10) school days of the meeting.

- 4. If the aggrieved person and/or Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance or if no decision has been rendered within ten (10) school days after the Committee has heard the grievance, the aggrieved person and/or the Association within ten (10) school days thereafter may appeal the grievance in accordance with Title 16-39-2 of the General Laws of Rhode Island or appeal to arbitration in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.
- 5. Failure to file initially or later to appeal within the time limits provided shall be deemed a waiver of the grievance. Time limits may be extended by mutual consent in writing.

#### D. RIGHT OF TEACHERS TO REPRESENTATION

- No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Committee or by any member of the Administration against any aggrieved person in interest or any other participant in a grievance proceeding by reason of such participation.
- The Association, through a representative or committee, shall have the right to assist and represent any aggrieved teacher who desires such assistance and representation through all steps of the grievance procedure.

### E. MISCELLANEOUS

- 1. All decisions rendered will be in writing, setting forth the decision and the reasons therefore, and will be transmitted promptly to the aggrieved person and to all parties in interest.
- All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.
- 3. The parties shall pay their own respective cost arising out of the grievance. The aggrieved person shall pay for any copies of materials he/she requests if the Committee is obligated to secure such materials.
- 4. In the event a grievance is filed which may not be finally resolved under the time limits set forth herein by the end of the school year and could,

therefore, result in irreparable harm to a party in interest, the parties will make every reasonable effort to reduce the time limits set forth herein so that the grievance procedure may be exhausted prior to the close of the school year.

- The Committee may require any teacher and/or Association representative to appear before them in order to ascertain first-hand knowledge or information in any grievance.
- 6. All proceedings shall be private, and only the final disposition may be made public.

### ARTICLE IV NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

- A. Representatives of the Committee with the Superintendent and the Association, shall meet for the purpose of negotiating and reaching a mutually satisfactory agreement on salary, welfare provisions, working provisions, working conditions and other matters of mutual concern.
- B. When the participants reach agreement, it will be reduced to a written, signed Contract and become part of the official Minutes of the Committee and of the Association.
- C. Not later than December 1 of the calendar year prior to the year in which this Agreement expires, the Committee agrees to enter into negotiations over a Successor Agreement in accordance with the procedure set forth herein, in a goodfaith effort to reach agreement concerning teachers' hours, salaries, working conditions and other terms and conditions of professional employment.
- D. Either party may, if it so desires, utilize the services of outside consultants and may call upon professional and lay representatives to assist in the negotiations.
- E. If negotiation meetings between the Committee and the Association are scheduled by the Committee during a school day, the members of the Association's negotiating team will be relieved of all regular duties without loss of pay as necessary to permit their participation in such meetings.
- F. This Agreement may be reopened during its term by agreement of both parties. The Agreement to Reopen must be in writing and signed by both parties. Any agreement reached as a result of such reopening shall only be binding if it is reduced to writing and is signed by both parties.

### ARTICLE V TEACHING HOURS AND TEACHING LOAD

A. The official length of the teachers' school day shall not exceed six (6) hours and fifty (50) minutes. Teachers shall be required to report fifteen (15) minutes before the start of the students' school day and remain fifteen (15) minutes after.

- 1. Teachers shall be available, upon request of the principal, for one and one-half (1 1/2) hours weekly, after the students' school day, for purposes of student make-up tests or additional help as well as meetings with other teachers, teams or administrators. Six (6) of these hours may be used for Faculty Meetings.
- B. In special instances (such as taking afternoon extension courses, serious illness at home, etc.) permission to release a teacher from this requirement may be granted by Principal providing arrangements for the assuming of any and all duties can be made.
- C. Routine procedures involving records, textbooks, supplies, etc., shall be detailed in a teacher's handbook which will be compiled by the appropriate administrator after soliciting input from representatives of the Association.
- D. All teachers will have a duty-free lunch period of the same length of time as the students every school day. Part-time teachers shall not be entitled to a duty-free lunch unless their schedule brackets the lunch period.
- E. All teachers shall, in addition to their lunch period, have at least two hundred twenty-five (225) minutes of preparation time each week. This time, where possible, shall be forty-five (45) minutes or greater blocks and, when possible, one (1) block or more per day. Part-time teachers shall be assigned to preparation time on a prorata basis in the proportion that the part-time teacher's load bears to a full-time teacher's load.
- F. When a regularly assigned teacher is absent, other regularly assigned teachers shall not be assigned to cover classes of the absent teacher.
- G. Elementary school teachers will not be required to teach any more than one (1) grade simultaneously on a continuing basis with the exception of multi-age.
- H. Commencing with the 2002-2003 school year, the work year shall be one hundred eighty-four (184) days. Three days shall be used for the purpose of Professional Development and/or Parent Conferences. One Professional Development Day may be split into 2 one-half (1/2) days. One additional day may be required of newly hired teachers for the first time orientation.
  Parent Conferences shall only be non-student days. Hours of work shall be 1:00 PM 7:00 PM with a flexible dinner hour to be held usually from 4:30 PM 5:30 PM.
- Any work days or half (1/2) days over 180 shall be non-student contact days.
- J. Parents shall not be deprived of an opportunity to confer with the teacher of their children because such conferences may be held outside of the regular workday. All parties concerned will strive to schedule such meeting during the teacher's workday.
- K. Class size\* for Grades 2-8 shall have a maximum of twenty-five (25) students. For grades kindergarten and first grade, class size shall be a maximum of twenty-four (24) students. One (1) additional student may be added in the first quarter marking period. If this maximum is exceeded (by no more than one (1) student) within the first quarter marking period of the year, the School Committee is under no obligation to split classes until the beginning of the 3rd term marking period. If the maximum is exceeded after the beginning of the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) term (marking period), the School Committee shall be under no obligation to split classes during that year.

Special Subject areas shall contain no more than the facility can maintain.

\* Class size exceptions: musical ensemble, physical education.

Out-of-district children of teachers in the Little Compton school system may attend Little Compton school system grades K-8 without cost or transportation.

- L. Teachers may leave the building during lunch time provided the Administration is notified. With the permission of the appropriate administrator, a teacher may leave the building during a preparation period.
- M. The school shall be open for two (2) full weeks before the official opening in order to allow teachers to prepare their rooms.

### ARTICLE VI TEXTBOOKS AND SUPPLIES

- A. The Committee agrees to provide sufficient required textbooks to insure that each pupil has textbooks for his/her own use. Teachers shall participate in the selection of all textbooks and supplies which pertain to their instructional activities. Teachers will list their orders by priority so that the Administration may act appropriately when budget constraints dictate. Information on this matter will be available to teachers after July 31.
- B. The Committee agrees to provide sufficient teaching equipment and supplies in the school system.

# ARTICLE VII PROTECTION

- A. Teachers will immediately report all cases of assault in connection with their employment to the Superintendent of Schools in writing.
- B. The Committee will assume liability or provide sufficient insurance covering all school personnel who may be involved in legal proceedings in connection with their employment in accordance with 9-1-31 of the General Laws of Rhode Island.
- C. Teachers will receive prompt notification of a pupil in their classes who has physical and/or emotional problems known to the Administration.
- D. Physical restraint may be used by a teacher in extraordinary circumstances to protect himself/herself, other teachers and students from possible injury.
- Full time nurses services will normally be available except in unusual circumstances.

### ARTICLE VIII TEACHER FACILITIES

- A. The school will have space in which teachers may safely store instructional materials and supplies.
- B. The Committee shall provide the following:
  - A teacher work area containing adequate equipment and supplies to aid in the preparation of instructional materials;
  - 2. A desk, chair and filing cabinet for each teacher;
  - 3. Adequate shelf and cabinet areas for the storing of instructional material and supplies in each classroom;
  - A well-lighted, heated and clean faculty lounge and restrooms;
  - 5. Adequate parking facilities for each teacher's use will be made available on the school grounds as soon as possible.
  - 6. Every reasonable effort shall be made to have all mechanical equipment in working order two (2) weeks before the start of school.

## ARTICLE IX USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

- A. The Association shall have the right to use the school building for professional meetings during times when the building is manned by the custodial staff and provided also that such use does not interfere or impair the instruction program in any way. Except in an emergency, the principal shall be notified at least five (5) days in advance of the time and place of such meeting. If the use of the school building by the Association results in any expense to the Committee for facilities, custodial services or any other service or item, the Association shall reimburse the Committee for such expense.
- B. It is further agreed that the Association will leave any premises used by it in suitable condition for the next user.
- C. While the teachers acknowledge that the building is public property, personal and professional belongings as well as student displays are contained therein. Every effort will be made to give teachers notification forty-eight (48) hours before their facilities and/or equipment to which they are assigned are to be used by the public. Material and/or equipment that is used will be returned to its proper storage place. Responsibility for materials rests with the borrower.

### ARTICLE X TEACHER SCHEDULES

- A. Teachers shall be notified by the principal of any change in programs, grades or subjects to be taught in the ensuing school year before the end of the current school year. Other detailed information such as precise schedules and/or room assignments shall be made known no later than July 31 of each year.
- B. In the event of a change in circumstances or conditions subsequent to the stipulated date, teacher assignments may be changed to meet the requirements of the new situation. A written explanation of the emergency circumstances will accompany notification of such a change and will be made to the teacher involved as soon as possible.
- C. Special subjects (except Band, Title I, Speech and Learning Disabilities class schedules) for all students K-8 shall be written into schedules and will become effective the first day of school.

### ARTICLE XI VOLUNTARY ASSIGNMENTS

- A. Any teacher desirous of changing assignment for the next academic year shall make his/her wishes known in writing to the Superintendent on or before February 1. After February 1, the Superintendent will give this request consideration in the event of a vacancy or if such a move will improve the quality of education.
- B. All vacancies in existing or newly created positions shall be posted as far in advance as practicable to afford members of the staff opportunity to apply. Vacancies will be filled on the basis of posted qualifications. If posted qualifications are substantially equal, the senior applicant will be assigned to the position.

Teachers may apply for and transfer to vacant positions once each school year. Teachers may, however apply for other vacancies in the same school year but may not be placed in said vacancy until the commencement of the following school year unless it is necessary.

Whenever possible, the then vacant position shall be filled with a Long Term Substitute, if vacancy is of thirty (30) consecutive working days or longer.

### ARTICLE XII LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Two (2) personal days shall be granted annually. Personal days shall be cumulative to three (3) personal days; however, no more than three (3) personal days may be taken in any one school year. Part-time teachers shall be granted leave in the same proportion as a part-time teacher's load bares to a full-time teacher's load. Personal leave is defined as time necessary for the conduct of personal business which cannot be scheduled other than during school hours. Personal leave may not be taken the day before or the day after a vacation period or holiday, except with prior written permission of the Superintendent.

- B. In cases of death in the immediate family, a teacher shall be allowed up to five (5) days for child, husband, wife, brother, sister, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, or other persons in the immediate household. Part-time teachers shall be granted leave in the same proportion that a part-time teacher's load bears to a full-time teacher's load.
- C. Teachers shall be allowed one (1) day to attend the funeral for all other family members. Part-time teachers shall be granted leave in the same proportion that a part-time teacher's load bears to a full-time teacher's load.
- D. 1. A teacher in the employ of the School Department shall receive fifteen (15) working days per year for sick leave, cumulative to two hundred (200) working days. Days in excess of two hundred (200) shall be applied to the Bank. In special cases, upon recommendation of the Superintendent, the Committee may extend the total leave of absence without loss of pay. Each September every teacher will be advised of the number of sick days he/she has accumulated to date.
  - 2. A teacher who has exhausted his/her sick leave shall be allowed to accept sick days contributed by other members of the bargaining unit. Guidelines for the Bank shall be subject to the approval of the School Committee.
- E. A teacher called for jury duty shall be paid the difference between his/her salary and that allotted by the State upon receipt of legal evidence of such services given and the salary paid.
- F. Military leave will be granted to any teacher who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the Armed Forces of the United States. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he/she would have achieved had he/she remained actively employed in the system. Teachers granted long-term military leave will return to the School Department no later than the beginning of the next semester after the date of discharge from active duty. Voluntary re-enlistment or extension shall constitute a demission and shall release the School Department from this obligation.
- G. Should a teacher be called for military reserve service on dates not chosen by him/ her during the school year, he/she shall be granted up to two (2) weeks leave of absence. He/she shall be paid the difference between his/her teaching salary and the base military pay received by him/her for such service performed on school days, provided that the base military pay is less than the teaching salary for the days in question.
- H. Regularly appointed teachers who have completed at least ten(10) years of continuous service in the School Department may be granted, upon request, sabbatical leave. Sabbatical leave may be granted only for activities which will have a positive educational value to the children enrolled in the school system. The Committee shall make the final decision on the value of the proposed advanced study for the requested sabbatical leave.
  - No more than one (1) teacher shall be absent on sabbatical leave at any one time.
  - Preliminary requests for sabbatical leave must be received by the Superintendent in writing, in such form as may be required by the

Superintendent, no later than December 1 of the year preceding the school year for which the sabbatical leave is requested. Final request forms must be received by the Superintendent in writing no later than February 1 of the year preceding the school year for which the sabbatical leave is requested.

- 3. A teacher on return from sabbatical leave shall be entitled to salary increments and opportunity for promotion. Fringe benefit payments shall be based on the percentage of the salary received during sabbatical leave. The teacher may be allowed to pay the balance of the fringe benefits.
- 4. Teachers on sabbatical leave will be paid one-half (1/2) annual salary for a full year's leave, and one-quarter (1/4) annual salary for a half (1/2) year's leave, provided the teacher completes the program for which the sabbatical leave is granted.
  - a. This compensation shall be payable at the regular or customary pay intervals or by some other method mutually agreed upon.
  - b. In the event a teacher does not return to the Little Compton School System at the termination of the sabbatical leave or does not complete the terms of the sabbatical leave (except in the event of death or other extreme circumstances), he/she shall pay back to the school system all sums received.
- 5. The teacher shall agree to return to employment in the school system for one (1) full year in the case of one-half (1/2) year's sabbatical leave or two (2) full years in the case of a full year sabbatical leave. Upon such return the teacher shall be placed on the appropriate step in the salary scale as though such teacher had not been on leave.
- I. Regularly appointed teachers who have completed at least ten (10) years of continuous service in the Little Compton School System may be granted, upon request, professional leave for travel or research at the discretion of the Committee. For procedures and conditions, see Section H.1,2,3 and 5. Upon completion of the professional leave, the teacher will submit a written report to the Superintendent.
- J. Any teacher whose personal illness extends beyond accumulated leave will be granted a leave of absence of up to one (1) year without pay or increment, and such leave may be extended for one (1) year. Requests for such leave must be accompanied by a statement from a regularly licensed physician that such leave is necessary. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be assigned to the same position, if available, and, if not, to a substantially equivalent position.
- K <u>Maternity and Parental Leave</u> A teacher who becomes pregnant shall be entitled to take a leave of absence for either or both of the following types:
  - 1. Maternity Leave Maternity leave shall be for the period of time during the pregnancy in which the teacher is physically disabled by reason of the pregnancy from performing her duties as a teacher and extending after the termination following said termination that the teacher is physically disabled from performing her duties as a teacher. The teacher must notify the Committee in writing of her pregnancy and inform the Committee in

said notification of the estimated date at which her disability will prevent her from performing her teaching duties. The teacher must also notify the Committee after the termination of the pregnancy of the estimated date at which she will be able to return to her teaching duties.

While absent on maternity leave, the teacher shall be entitled to utilize her accumulated sick leave. If the maternity leave extends beyond the number of days of sick leave accumulated by the teacher, then the remainder of the maternity leave shall be without pay. The teacher must return from maternity leave as soon as she is physically able to perform her duties as a teacher. The Committee shall have the right to request a second qualified medical opinion from a mutually agreed upon physician at Committee expense.

Upon her return the teacher shall be placed in the assignment that she left, if the position is still open. If the position that she left is not open, the teacher shall be placed in as nearly comparable a position as is available. In the event of a long-term illness, the Committee may, upon recommendation of the Superintendent, extend sick leave.

Parental Leave - Parental leave shall be for a period of one (1) year, 2. extending two (2) years with the approval of the School Committee and shall be without pay. However, a teacher electing leave under this provision shall be afforded the opportunity to continue in the Group Health Insurance Plan at his or her own expense. The teacher who elects to take parental leave must notify the Committee in writing at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of the leave. The teacher must return at the beginning of the school year in September. If the teacher commences parental leave after January 1 of any year, the teacher may take such parental leave in excess of one (1) year providing for a return at the beginning of the school year in September of the following calendar year. The election to take parental leave must be made prior to the commencement of the leave. A teacher on parental leave must notify the Committee by March 1 as to whether or not she/he plans to return after the first year of leave.

Upon her/his return, the teacher shall be placed in the assignment that she/he left if the position is still open. If the position that she/he left is not open, the teacher shall be placed in as nearly comparable a position as is available. All unused benefits accrued prior to said leave shall be credited to the teacher.

- L. Peace Corps or Vista leave will be granted without pay to any teacher on tenure who enlists for a period not to exceed two (2) years. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he/she would have achieved had he/she remained actively employed in the system during the period of his/her absence.
- M. At the discretion of the Superintendent, teachers may be allowed up to three (3) professional days without loss of pay for visiting classes within or outside the system or for educational conferences, workshops or conventions. If requested, a report shall be submitted to the Superintendent covering such visits.

- N. Teachers may be allowed to take sick leave days for family emergency leave. These days will be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- O. A leave of absence without pay shall not be unreasonably denied.
- P. All leave without pay granted for whatever reason during the school year will result in the reduction of the person's salary 1/181 of his/her annual salary for each day of leave granted except that, in the case of a teacher working less than full time, the deduction for each day of unpaid leave shall be in the same proportion as that teacher's part-time class load bears to a full-time class load.

# ARTICLE XIII ACCUMULATIVE SICK LEAVE REIMBURSEMENT/ EARLY RETIREMENT INCENTIVE

Teachers retiring from the school system and who have served in the school system for at least fifteen (15) years will be reimbursed for their accumulated sick leave as follows:

- 1. One (1) day for fifteen (15) days of accumulated sick leave paid at the rate of the teacher's base pay. Notwithstanding, the provisions of Article XII, the maximum accumulation of sick days is capped at one hundred ninety-five (195) days for purposes of this Article.

  After twenty (20) years of service to the Little Compton School Department, one (1) day for ten (10) days of accumulated sick leave shall be paid at the rate of the teacher's base pay.
- 2. A teacher retiring who notified the School Committee by February 1 of the year in which he/she intends to retire shall receive a lump sum payment of one hundred seventy-five (\$175.00) dollars for each year of service in Little Compton, up to a maximum of thirty (30) years. The incentive payment shall be paid to the teacher no later than thirty (30) days following retirement, and no retirement contributions shall be made from such payment. The foregoing shall be accomplished in accordance with 16-7-19.1 of the General Laws of Rhode Island, as amended.
- 3. For the purpose of this Article, retiring shall mean eligibility for a service retirement allowance at the time the teacher retires.

## ARTICLE XIV PERSONAL INJURY BENEFITS

The Committee shall provide Worker's Compensation for members of the Association.

### ARTICLE XV NON-TEACHING DUTIES

It is recognized that teaching is a profession which requires specialized qualifications, and that the success of the educational program in Little Compton depends upon the effective utilization of the abilities and talents of the teachers in the system.

Teachers shall not perform lunchroom and recess duty. Said duties shall be performed by teacher aides. Teachers shall be relieved of the handling of insurance money but will continue to collect picture money. Teachers in Grades 5-8 shall not collect lunch monies.

The Committee shall relieve teachers of typing, reproduction and other clerical duties provided that there shall be no increase in the number of hours of aides and no decrease in the duties performed by aides. However, teachers shall reproduce their own materials when necessary. The teachers and the Superintendent shall cooperatively schedule the aide time in an attempt to achieve the foregoing.

### ARTICLE XVI INSURANCE

- A. The Committee agrees to pay medical and dental insurance to those employed three (3) days or more per week. The Committee agrees to pay a percentage of the premiums for health benefit plans enrolled in by teachers on a prorata basis in the proportion that a part-time teacher's load bears to a full-time teacher's load (e.g., the Committee will pay one-fifth [1/5] of the premium for plans enrolled in by a teacher who teaches one [1] day per week). The teacher's share of premiums will be deducted from his/her pay.
  - 1. Full time Little Compton Teachers shall be offered a buy-back in lieu of health care coverage at the rate of two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) payable on or about the last payroll each June.
- B.1. <u>Health Insurance</u> All employees of the bargaining unit shall receive individual or family HealthMate Coast-to-Coast with the following riders:

Student to age 26, Chiropractic visits, 30 annual

- 2. A teacher may elect individual or family Classic at the cost of the difference between Classic and HealthMate Coast-to-Coast.
- 3. Semi-Private (full hospital maternity, students to age 26).
- 4. "100" (full Obstetrical and Medical Emergency Rider \$25.00 co-pay, students to age 26) with reciprocity.

- Major Medical (\$1,000,000 maximum, students to age (26) with one hundred (\$100.00) deductible.
- 6. Full-time members family coverage or individual coverage will be co-paid at the rate of 10% of premium in the 2008-2009 school year, 12.5% of premium in the 2009-2010 school year. The annual co-payment will be paid in equal amounts by payroll deduction with pre-tax dollars.

7. An employee may choose Employee Plus One or two individual health and health and dental plans, if available and less expensive. If dependents and/or spouse need to be added, the employee may transfer back to a family plan at any time.

8. Dental Insurance

Delta Dental Levels I, II and III, Individual or Family Fourth Level.

- 9. For the 2008-2009 school year 10% of premium. 2009-2010 school year 12.5% of premium.
- 10. The Committee may substitute substantially equivalent health coverage with the current or a new provider, group, carrier or trust with the mutal consent of the Little Compton Teachers' Association. Such mutual consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- C. <u>Life Insurance</u> \$50,000 term life insurance will be provided to eligible employees as described in the Employee Document dated 8/31/95 and the Group Certificate of Insurance dated 7/20/95.
- D. Retired teachers may elect to continue membership under the "Group Plan" at their own expense. Teachers who were hired after August 31, 1999 may elect to continue membership under group plan at their own expense until age 70.

Teachers employed during and after school year 2002-2003, with a minimum of twenty (20) years of service in Little Compton and retiring within the State Retirement System may elect to continue membership under the "*Group Plan*" at the rate of seventy five percent (75%) of the cost of the group plan for five (5) years or Medicare eligibility or eligibility for any other health plan or until age 70, whichever occurs first.

Teachers with fewer than twenty (20) years service in Little Compton shall pay 100% of the cost of the group plan for five (5) years or Medicare eligibility or eligibility for any other health plan or until age 70, whichever occurs first.

### ARTICLE XVII SALARIES

- A. 1. There are twenty-six (26) pay periods. Salary checks are distributed every two (2) weeks commencing on or before the second Friday after Labor Day or paid in accordance with the town payroll schedule if sooner, for a total of twenty-one (21) equal pay checks. On or prior to the completion of the Town's fiscal year on June 30, teachers shall receive the remainder of their pay in five (5) separate checks of equal amount or in a single check.
  - 2. Detention Duty twenty dollars (\$20.00) per hour not less than \$1080 in any one (1) school year.
  - 3. Coaches \$25.00 per hour.
- B. For those extracurricular activities the Committee chooses to sponsor, it shall pay the staff monitor(s) assigned a stipend equivalent to a rate of twenty (\$20.00) Dollars per hour.
- C. Teachers will be reimbursed at the rate of twenty (\$20.00) dollars per hour for time spent on district-sponsored curriculum projects after school and/or during the summer. These projects must be approved in advance by the Superintendent. Participation in these projects will be voluntary.
- D. Grade Advisors shall receive sixteen hundred dollars (1,600.00) annually. The designated Head Teacher(s) shall receive an annual stipend of three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00).
- E. The salaries for full-time teachers under the Contract are set forth in Appendix "A" which is attached hereto. Part-time teachers under this Contract will be paid a prorated salary in proportion to the amount their part-time work bears to a full-time teacher's work schedule.
- F. Contributions for the Rhode Island State Employees' Retirement System and the Rhode Island State Employees' Retirement System for Survivor Benefits shall be deducted from the gross pay based on twenty-six (26) payrolls per year.

## ARTICLE XVIII DUES DEDUCTION

- A. The Committee agrees to deduct from the salaries of its employees the total dues and assessments deductions for the Little Compton Teachers' Association, the Rhode Island Education Association and the National Education Association, if authorized on the Association's membership application form. A copy of the form must be signed by the teacher and given to the Superintendent of Schools.
- B. The Executive Secretary of the United Teaching Profession will certify to the Committee in writing by September 15 of the contract year the current rate of its membership dues and assessments deductions. Any changes in membership dues and assessments will be given to the Committee in writing.

- C. Deductions referred to in Section (A) above will be made in equal installments on the second (2) payday of each month during the school year.
- D. In the event that a teacher terminates employment before the end of the school year, the Committee shall deduct any unpaid Association dues and assessment deductions from the final paycheck.
- E. The Committee shall discontinue such dues and assessments deductions for any school year only if the teacher notifies the Committee in writing not later than August 25 prior to the commencement of such school year.
- F. As a condition of employment, staff members not joining the Association shall pay a service charge to said Association in lieu of dues. The amount shall be paid through payroll deduction in the aforesaid manner.

### ARTICLE XIX TEACHER FILES

- A. Upon written request, a teacher may be allowed to review his/her files with the superintendent, including references and information obtained in the process of evaluating the teacher for employment, except where such was previously classified as confidential.
- B. No material pertaining to a teacher's conduct, service, character or personality shall be placed in a teacher's file unless the teacher is notified that such material has been or may be included in his/her file. The teacher will acknowledge that he/she has read such material by signing the actual copy to be filed with the understanding that such signature merely indicates that he/she has read the material to be filed, not that he/she necessarily agrees with its contents.
- C. The teacher shall have the right to answer any material filed, and his/her signed answer shall be attached to the file copy within thirty (30) days.
- D. Upon receipt of a written request, the teacher shall be furnished a reproduction of any material in his/her file, except where such material has previously been classified as confidential. A reasonable charge for reproduction may be assessed.
- E. The teacher evaluation form currently in use shall continue to be used until such time that the Association and the Committee agree upon a new evaluation form, said form will become part of the Contract by reference.

### ARTICLE XX SENIORITY

A. All layoffs and recalls shall be on the basis of seniority. Seniority shall be defined as the amount of continuous service in Little Compton School System, beginning with the first day of work. The first day of work is defined as the first time that a certified employee is required to report for duty. Total continuous service shall not be broken by any authorized leaves, authorized sabbaticals, or suspensions due to a decrease in school population or layoffs.

- B. In the event that two (2) or more certified employees have the same amount of seniority as defined above, the following criteria shall be used to determine their respective amounts of seniority. These criteria shall be used in the order in which they are listed.
  - Total amount of prior certified service in the Little Compton School System:
  - Full-time employment creates more seniority than part-time employment;
  - Total amount of certified service as a per diem substitute in the Little Compton School System;
  - 4. If, after exhausting the above criteria, two (2) or more certified employees still have the same amount of seniority, their relative positions shall be determined by a lottery, the form of which shall be determined by the Superintendent and the President of the Little Compton Teachers' Association.
- C. Seniority shall be lost when a teacher terminates voluntarily or is discharged for just cause.
- D. In the event a vacancy occurs the following procedure will prevail:
  - 1. If there are teachers on the recall list, the most senior teacher who is certified for the vacancy shall be recalled.
  - The vacancy shall be posted internally.
  - 3. The most senior teacher applying shall be transferred to the vacancy provided this can be accomplished without causing the teacher in (1) above not to have a position because of certification.
  - \*The provisions in D above are not intended to alter the decision in AAA Case 1139-2215-84.

### ARTICLE XXI GENERAL

- A. The Committee shall not discriminate in any way against any teacher by reason of his/her membership in or participation in the activities of the Association or his/her exercise of rights granted under this Agreement.
- B. The Committee will provide the Association with an advanced copy of the agenda for each official Committee meeting.
- C. The Association shall publish the approved Agreement and distribute a copy to all members of the negotiating unit.
- D. All teachers employed a minimum of three (3) days per week or twenty-one (21) periods shall be considered full-time and be subject to the terms of this Contract. Teachers who work less than three (3) days per week or twenty-one (21) periods per week shall be considered part-time and be subject to the terms of this Contract. Sick leave for those individuals shall be awarded in direct proportion to the number of days worked per week.

- E. A joint standing study committee with Association participation will be established to review and to develop guidelines as warranted to be used by teachers in administering an established discipline policy. Part-time teachers may serve on this committee.
- F. There will be release-time scheduled during the year. Programs for release-time may be initiated by either the teachers or Administration and will be planned jointly. Upon approval by the Administration and the Committee, requests for release-times will be forwarded to the Commissioner for confirmation. Teachers will retain the privilege of requesting in writing, additional release-times for professional consideration. On any release-time days, students will be dismissed at 12 noon, and teachers will remain until 3:30 P.M.
- G. A Certified Teacher who replaces a regularly employed teacher for more than thirty (30) consecutive days shall be considered a Long Term Substitute. After the (30th) day, a Long Term Substitute shall receive payment in accordance with the salary scale in effect at that time. After one hundred and thirty five (135) days, a Long Term Substitute shall receive all benefits of the contract except seniority. Exception: A Long Term Substitute hired prior to the beginning of the school year to replace a teacher for the full year shall receive all the benefits of the contract except seniority.

In the event the Long Term Substitute has worked as a Long Term Substitute for one hundred thirty-five (135) days or more in any one school year and is than appointed to a permanent position for the following school year, he/she shall receive step credit for the year (s) worked as a Long Term Substitute.

H. Any teacher who works full-time or part-time for more than half (1/2) of the school year, including sick and maternity leave, shall be eligible for advancement of one (1) step on the salary scale for the next school year.

### ARTICLE XXII TUITION

All successfully completed courses requested by the school committee, after hire and beyond certification requirements, shall be paid by the school committee.

Such tuition reimbursement shall not include courses needed for purposes of transfer or hire.

### ARTICLE XXIII PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All In-Service Training shall offer continuing education units or CEU's whenever possible. A committee of two (2) teachers and the principal shall be established to recommend topics for In-Service Training. Topics for In-Service shall be given to the Superintendent for approval.

# ARTICLE XXIV DURATION

The provisions of this Agreement will become effective as of September 1,2008 and continue in full force until August 31, 2010.

		the parties hereunto set their hands effective the 1008.
By:	Chairperson, Little Compton S	chool Committee
By:	President, Little Compton Teac	chers' Association

### APPENDIX A

#### SALARY SCALE

#### **BACHELORS DEGREE**

Steps	2008-2009	2009-2010
	750.00	2.25%
1	36875	37705
2	39977	40876
3	43517	44496
4	46731	47782
5	49948	51072
6	53158	54354
7	56376	57644
8	59592	60933
9	62810	64223
10	66536	68033

<u>ADVANCE LANES</u> – Shall be increased annually by the same percent as the salary percent increase.

	2008-2009	2009-2010
	1.14%	2.25%
B+30	1336.39	1366.45
Master	2118.18	2165.83
M+30	2460.07	2515.42
CAGS	2947.92	3014.24
Nat. Cert.	3275.47	3349.16

Teachers who receive the annual National Cerificate Stipend shall agree to mentor new teachers when needed or present a workshop for new teachers.

Note: any days over 181, shall be paid at the rate of:

2008-2009 \$194.88 per day 2009-2010 \$199.26 per day

Increased annually by the same percent as the salary percent increase.

One thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) shall be paid to all teachers on the first regular pay day after February 1, 2009, said one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) shall be applied to the base pay of any teacher who agrees to retire as of June 30, 2009 and provides the committee with an irrevocable letter of retirement as of February 1, 2009.

One thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) paid to retiring teachers in year one (1) will be used for calculating advance degrees.